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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT


FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

	Christine Baker;


Plaintiff,


v.

Capital One Bank; Capital One, F.S.B.; Capital One Services, Inc.; Equifax Credit Information Services; Retailers National Bank; Ameriquest Mortgage Company; Panda Management, Inc.; Anthony Ferlanti; Does 1-10;
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	CIV-04-1192-PCT-NVW
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
(Jury Trial Demanded)


Plaintiff Christine Baker, upon information and belief and in good faith, alleges as follows in her First Amended Complaint:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1. This is an action for damages and injunctive relief brought by an individual consumer against the Defendants for violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (hereafter “FCRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (hereafter “ECOA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1691 et seq., the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (hereafter “GLBA”), 15 U.S.C. § 6801, et seq., Mortgage Brokers A.R.S. § 6-909, Consumer Fraud A.R.S. § 44-1522,  Commercial Electronic Mail A.R.S. § 44-1372 et seq., Defamation, Willful and Negligent Enablement of Identity Theft, Negligence and Misrepresentation.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
2. Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1681p, 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  Venue lies properly in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).
PARTIES
3. Plaintiff CHRISTINE BAKER is an adult individual residing in the State of Arizona, Mohave County, and is a "consumer" as defined by FCRA § 1681a(c).

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant RETAILERS NATIONAL BANK (hereafter “RNB”) maintains headquarters in Minneapolis, MN, and is a “person” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b).

5. Upon information and belief, Defendant EQUIFAX CREDIT INFORMATION SERVICES LLC (hereafter “EQUIFAX”) maintains headquarters in Atlanta, GA, and is a "person" as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b) and a “consumer reporting agency” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(f).

Upon information and belief, Defendant CAPITAL ONE BANK maintains headquarters in  McLean, VA, and is a “person” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b).
6. Mortgage Company,














































































































7. Upon information and belief, Defendant CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. maintains headquarters in McLean, VA, and is a “person” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b).

Upon information and belief, Defendant CAPITAL ONE SERVICES, INC.  maintains headquarters in  McLean, VA, and is a “person” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b).
8. dnthony Ferlanti; nc.;ce, Inc. nc. 




























































































9. Upon information and belief, Defendant AMERIQUEST MORTGAGE COMPANY (hereafter “AMERIQUEST”) maintains headquarters in Orange, California, and is a “person” as defined by FCRA § 1681a(b), a “licensee” as defined by A.R.S. § 6-941(4) and a person as defined by A.R.S. § 44-1521(6).
10. Upon information and belief, Defendant PANDA MANAGEMENT, INC., dba Lead Jungle, is a Carson City, NV, corporation and is a “sender” as defined by A.R.S § 44-1372 and a “person” as defined by A.R.S. 44-1521.
11. Upon information and belief, Defendant ANTHONY FERLANTI is the president, secretary and treasurer of PANDA MANAGEMENT and is a “sender” as defined by A.R.S § 44-1372 and a “person” as defined by A.R.S. 44-1521.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

EQUIFAX

12. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
13. On or about August 8, 2001, plaintiff disputed the inaccurately reported as “included in bankruptcy” Nelnet (Unipac - NEB) account with EQUIFAX. 

14. Plaintiff had taken extreme care to pay the Nelnet account without incurring late payments despite her financial difficulties and subsequent bankruptcy in 1996, and plaintiff paid the account in full and as agreed.

15. In the 8/29/01 investigation results, EQUIFAX informed plaintiff that Nelnet had verified the current status and the Nelnet account continued to be reported as “included in bankruptcy.”

16. In response to plaintiff’s next online dispute, EQUIFAX wrote on 10/16/01:

“THIS ITEM HAS BEEN DELETED FROM THE CREDIT FILE.”

17. However, the EQUIFAX credit report contained the account with the notation:
“CONSUMER DISPUTES-REINVESTIGATION IN PROCESS”

18. It is not uncommon for EQUIFAX to continue to report accounts it claims to have deleted and to continue to show accounts as disputed long after the investigation ended.
19. On or about January 4, 2002, plaintiff submitted her request for complete consumer disclosures to EQUIFAX CEO Thomas Chapman through Planetfeedback.com, a website facilitating consumer complaints.  Plaintiff advised that the printable EQUIFAX on-line reports were missing all dates for late payments and that EQUIFAX failed to disclose the account type and inquiry coding as utilized for Fair Isaac credit scores (“FICO scores”).  Plaintiff requested that EQUIFAX not allow her credit file to be scored by Fair Isaac’s scoring software.
20. Plaintiff did not receive a reply.

21. On March 13, 2002, EQUIFAX wrote to plaintiff:

“Below are the results of your request for Equifax to reinvestigate certain elements of your Equifax credit file. Equifax contacted each source directly and our investigation is now completed.  Enclosed is an updated copy of your credit file.”
Below this statement was nothing but empty space.

22. The March 13, 2002 EQUIFAX consumer disclosure reported the Nelnet account as “included in bankruptcy” and with the notation:

 “CONSUMER DISPUTES-REINVESTIGATION IN PROCESS”

23. The April 22, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the Nelnet account had been researched and:

“EQUIFAX HAS VERIFIED THAT THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REPORTED CORRECTLY.”

24. On the enclosed EQUIFAX consumer disclosure the Nelnet account was reported as “included in bankruptcy” and with the notation:


“CONSUMER DISPUTES-REINVESTIGATION IN PROCESS”

25. The April 22, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the Providian account, reported twice with identical account numbers, had been researched and:

“EQUIFAX VERIFIED THAT THIS ITEM BELONGS TO YOU.”

26. The May 21, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the Nelnet account had been researched and:

“EQUIFAX HAS VERIFIED THAT THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REPORTED CORRECTLY.”

27. On the enclosed EQUIFAX consumer disclosure the Nelnet account was reported as “included in bankruptcy” and with the notation:

“CONSUMER DISPUTES-REINVESTIGATION IN PROCESS”

28. The May 21, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the Providian accounts, reported twice with identical account numbers, have been researched and:

“EQUIFAX HAS VERIFIED THAT THIS ITEM HAS BEEN REPORTED CORRECTLY.”

29. On June 11, 2002, plaintiff discovered that EQUIFAX reported the Providian discharged account twice as “Current status: Bad debt/collection” and “Installment charge-off.” 

30. Upon information and belief, plaintiff disputed the Providian accounts online and they were then reported as “paid as agreed.”

31. On September 1, 2002, EQUIFAX reported plaintiff’s CAPITAL ONE F.S.B. accounts: “High Credit $3,316 - Balance $3,345.”  It is impossible to have a balance higher than the “high credit,” or “most owed.”  The actual credit limit was $6,000.

32. Fair Isaac calculated the balance/limit ratio for this account as 101%, while the actual ratio was 56%, and this incorrect ratio severely lowered plaintiff’s FICO scores.
33. On or about September 1, 2002, plaintiff disputed this CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. account with EQUIFAX online.

34. On or about September 3, 2002, plaintiff disputed her other CAPITAL ONE account with EQUIFAX online.

35. On or about September 4, 2002, plaintiff faxed her dispute of the Nelnet account to EQUIFAX: 

“This account has been reported as disputed for MONTHS. Please immediately report it correctly: NOT included in bankruptcy, always paid as agreed.”

36. The September 22, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results for the first CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. account stated:

“ADDITIONAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN PROVIDED FROM THE ORIGINAL SOURCE REGARDING THIS ITEM. SEE ENCLOSED CREDIT FILE.”

37. The enclosed EQUIFAX credit file incorrectly reported the CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. account: “High Credit $3,316 - Balance $4,817”
38. The Fair Isaac credit scoring software calculated the balance/limit ratio for this account as 145%, while the actual ratio was 80%.
39. The September 24, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results of the CAPITAL ONE account stated:

“ADDITIONAL INFORMATION HAS BEEN PROVIDED FROM THE ORIGINAL SOURCE REGARDING THIS ITEM. SEE ENCLOSED CREDIT FILE.”

40. The enclosed EQUIFAX credit report incorrectly reported the “High Credit $6,846” instead of the $7,500 limit.
41. The October 3, 2002 EQUIFAX investigation results stated that the Nelnet account had been deleted instead of reported correctly as always paid as agreed.
42. On or about November 3, 2002, plaintiff faxed to EQUIFAX, asking why it deleted her Nelnet account and she requested that EQUIFAX report the correct limits of $6,000 and $7,500 for the CAPITAL ONE accounts.
43. On or about November 28, 2002, plaintiff faxed to EQUIFAX her request for the description of the reinvestigation procedures: 

“How and when were the accounts investigated, and who provided the verification at Capital One?”

44. On or about December 21, 2002, plaintiff again faxed to EQUIFAX her request for the description of the reinvestigation procedures, and she requested that reports not be mailed via postal service as it is not secure.

45. On or about January 25, 2003, plaintiff discovered that EQUIFAX was reporting a ZERO credit limit and high credit for the CAPITAL ONE and the CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. accounts.

46. On or about January 30, 2003, plaintiff faxed to EQUIFAX:

“Who changed my credit limits to ZERO, WHEN and WHY????”

Plaintiff also asked why EQUIFAX had ignored her previous 12/22/02 fax and attached it for reference.

47. In February 2003, plaintiff received the 1/24/03 EQUIFAX investigation results:

“THE HIGH CREDIT ON THIS ACCOUNT HAS BEEN UPDATED.”

The result was the reporting of the ZERO credit limits.

48. EQUIFAX responded to plaintiff’s question why it had deleted the Nelnet account:

“CURRENTLY THE NELNET ACCOUNT IS NOT REPORTING ON THE EQUIFAX CREDIT FILE.”

49. The next EQUIFAX investigation results were dated 1/31/03 and finally contained the correct credit limits for the CAPITAL ONE and the CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. accounts.

50. However, shortly thereafter the credit limits were reported as “N/A”, resulting again in artificially high balance/limit ratios and artificially low FICO scores.  

51. On May 28, 2003, plaintiff mailed her CAPITAL ONE account statement and the CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. notice of credit limit increase to EQUIFAX, requesting again the reporting of the correct credit limits.
52. Upon information and belief, EQUIFAX published a 1999 Position Paper titled: 
“The Importance of Reporting High Balance and Credit Limit Information.”
“In November 1998, a large national bankcard issuer informed EQUIFAX that it would stop reporting limit and high balance information.  In addition, within the six months, a few bankcard issuers have implemented or announced their intent to implement a policy of non-reporting of credit limit and high balance information. ...”

53. EQUIFAX was fully aware of the missing credit limits’ devastating impact on FICO scores.
54. According to Fair Isaac, the FICO scores are utilized in over 75% of all credit decisions and the balance/limit ratio is one of the most important score factors.
55. EQUIFAX refused and continues to refuse to report the CAPITAL ONE credit limits and maliciously continues to inflict damages on plaintiff and many millions of CAPITAL ONE customers by allowing CAPITAL ONE to report incomplete and extremely damaging data.
56. Plaintiff served EQUIFAX with her 3/19/03 complaint filed in Phoenix Federal Court (dismissed due to late service) and EQUIFAX also received plaintiff’s many exhibits explaining and documenting the devastating impact of its refusal to report the credit limits for credit card and charge accounts.
57. Despite plaintiff’s enormous efforts to obtain a correct and complete EQUIFAX credit report, EQUIFAX continues to refuse to report the credit limits for her CAPITAL ONE and RNB Target store cards.

58. EQUIFAX also deleted many of plaintiff's old accounts from her credit file in 2002 and failed to report the Nelnet account despite Nelnet’s specific request on 4/3/03.
59. EQUIFAX is maliciously engaging in these illegal credit reporting practices to lower plaintiff’s as well as millions of other consumers’ credit scores to please its clients, the creditors who reap undue profits due to the consumers’ artificially low credit scores.
60. On several occasions plaintiff purchased her tri-merged credit reports from ConsumerInfo.com.   The EQUIFAX portion of the report contained less than 50% of plaintiff’s data in her EQUIFAX credit file and the charge exceeded the FCRA maximum allowable fee of $9 per consumer disclosure.
61. On August 7, 2003, plaintiff notified EQUIFAX of the ConsumerInfo.com noncompliance and she requested that EQUIFAX terminate the ConsumerInfo.com access to its database until the resold consumer disclosures were FCRA compliant.
62. Plaintiff did not receive a response from EQUIFAX and it continued to provide ConsumerInfo.com with access to its consumer credit database for the resale of noncompliant overpriced and incomplete consumer disclosures.
63. After plaintiff filed her suit on March 19, 2003, EQUIFAX refused plaintiff’s orders of her EQUIFAX consumer disclosures on several occasions, despite the fact that plaintiff had prepaid for these reports literally years ago and the FCRA requires credit reporting agencies (“CRAs”) to provide consumer disclosures upon request and payment of the $9 maximum fee.
64. EQUIFAX also blocked plaintiff’s credit file to prevent her from ordering her consumer disclosure at the Fair Isaac myFICO.com website.

65. Apparently EQUIFAX refuses to provide consumer disclosures after consumers took legal action against EQUIFAX to discourage consumer litigation and to prevent consumers from documenting continued and willful EQUIFAX FCRA violations.
66. On November 16, 2003, plaintiff ordered the tri-merged EQUIFAX report from its website.  This EQUIFAX tri-merged credit report was not compliant with the FCRA requirement for complete consumer disclosures and the EQUIFAX charge for this report exceeded the $9 per disclosure permitted by the FCRA.

67. EQUIFAX continually misrepresented its CreditWatch identity theft protection service as being able to prevent identity theft. 
68. Plaintiff had been a CreditWatch subscriber for several years prior to becoming an identity theft victim in March 2004.

69. The EQUIFAX CreditWatch service did not prevent the ID theft nor did it provide any benefits whatsoever.
70. EQUIFAX also refused to provide plaintiff with her credit reports as required by the CreditWatch agreement. 

71. EQUIFAX failed to provide a user changeable personal identification number (PIN) to secure plaintiff’s credit file.
72. On April 21, 2004, EQUIFAX incorrectly identified the AMERIQUEST mortgage inquiry as “Miscellaneous Reptg. Agencies” instead of mortgage related on plaintiff’s PrivacyGuard tri-merged credit report.
73. Fair Isaac claims that multiple mortgage and auto loan inquiries by consumers shopping for the best rates and terms will not lower the FICO scores because its software identifies and ignores those inquiries.  Incorrect identification of inquiries results in artificially low FICO scores.
CAPITAL ONE BANK, CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. AND CAPITAL ONE SERVICES
74. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
75. Defendants CAPITAL ONE BANK and CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. apparently assign customer service and other operations to Defendant CAPITAL ONE SERVICES and possibly other corporations.  Phones are answered by “Capital One” and many mailings as well as credit reports and the credit cards only reference “Capital One” and/or “CAPITAL ONE SERVICES”.
76. Prior to discovery, plaintiff is unable to determine which legally distinct and separate “Capital One” entities are responsible for her claims, as they misrepresent themselves to the general public, customers and occasionally even to CRAs as one entity: “Capital One.”  Plaintiff therefore refers to “CAPITAL ONE” when in doubt about the legal identity.
77. CAPITAL ONE BANK was named in plaintiff’s 3/19/03 complaint and dismissed for late and defective service.
78. CAPITAL ONE BANK re-aged plaintiff’s 1996 discharged account and verified the incorrect dates and balances with Experian.
79. On or about July 19, 2002, plaintiff faxed her request for the reporting of the missing credit limits directly to CAPITAL ONE.
80. Plaintiff did not receive a reply from CAPITAL ONE. 
81. CAPITAL ONE refused the reporting of the credit limits for the open accounts on numerous occasions when contacted by the CRAs investigating plaintiff’s disputes.
82. On or about November 11, 2002, plaintiff again faxed her request for the reporting of the missing credit limits directly to CAPITAL ONE.

83.  Plaintiff did not receive a reply from CAPITAL ONE. 
84. On February 24, 2003, CAPITAL ONE wrote to another consumer that it did not report the credit limits.

85. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE SERVICES Consumer Advocate, Executive Office, Eugene Cooke, replied to a consumer regarding his Planetfeedback.com complaint about the missing credit limits.  Excerpt:

“According to your posting on Planet Feedback, you expressed concerns regarding your account and the manner we report to the credit reporting agencies. Capital One exercises a company prerogative to report the high balances verses credit limits. We believe that this manner of reporting provides the most accurate reflection of an account’s performance. We regret that this is frustrating. Please be assured that this was not our intent.”
86. However, the FCRA does not contain any provisions allowing CAPITAL ONE, or its subsidiaries to ignore any FCRA provision due to its “company prerogative.”

87. In addition to plaintiff’s disputes and the numerous CRA investigations, CAPITAL ONE BANK received the following notices of the incorrect or incomplete reporting:

a) In August 2003, CAPITAL ONE BANK received the request for waiver of service with plaintiff’s 3/19/03 Complaint, containing the detailed description of the CAPITAL ONE incorrect and incomplete credit reporting.  
b) On November 11, 2003, CAPITAL ONE BANK was served with the Summons and the 3/19/03 Complaint.
c) CAPITAL ONE BANK received plaintiff’s 12/17/03 Objection to the CAPITAL ONE BANK Motion to Dismiss with the description of the specific disputes as well as numerous exhibits illustrating the damages inflicted upon plaintiff and millions of other CAPITAL ONE account holders due to its refusal to report the credit limits.
88. CAPITAL ONE BANK, CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. and possibly CAPITAL ONE SERVICES maliciously continued to report without the credit limits, as evidenced by plaintiff’s credit reports dated 12/1/2004.
89. CAPITAL ONE (the holding company as well as the subsidiaries issuing the credit cards) profits increased when plaintiff and other customers were unable to obtain credit with competitors and consumers had no choice but to use the CAPITAL ONE cards with high fees and interest rates and/or they subsequently did not have the funds to make their CAPITAL ONE payments on time and CAPITAL ONE assessed late and overlimit fees and increased interest rates.
90. CAPITAL ONE frequently mailed credit card checks to be used “like any other check” and specifically misrepresented that these checks could be deposited in plaintiff’s bank account.
91. Many of the CAPITAL ONE checks were special “purchase checks” with a lower interest rate, no 3% cash advance fee and no interest charges at all if the account was paid in full in accordance with the account terms for purchases.
92. Compass Bank refused to accept these checks because it, as well as many other banks, categorically did not accept credit card checks.  Compass Bank recommended that plaintiff obtain a cash advance from her CAPITAL ONE credit card.
93. CAPITAL ONE charged a 3% cash advance fee and extra high interest rates for cash advances from the date of the advance with no grace period as for purchase checks.
94. Upon information and belief, CAPITAL ONE was aware that these checks were usually not accepted by its customers’ banks or subjected to extensive holds of up to 9 business days and CAPITAL ONE deliberately engaged in false advertising, expecting that its customers counted on the ability to deposit the checks like any other check and then had no choice but to obtain the extremely expensive cash advances when the banks declined to accept the checks or advised of the long hold on the funds.
95. In March 2004, CAPITAL ONE alerted plaintiff to suspected fraudulent charges and provided a listing of charges by various companies over the phone.
96. Plaintiff determined that these charges were fraudulent and advised CAPITAL ONE accordingly.  CAPITAL ONE closed the account and opened a new account with a different account number.
97. Plaintiff asked CAPITAL ONE whether she would have to provide a new credit card to her vendors with recurring charges and CAPITAL ONE assured plaintiff that all recurring charges would automatically be charged to the new account.
98. CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. subsequently declined all recurring charges.
99. On several occasions plaintiff requested that CAPITAL ONE provide the company names, addresses, telephone numbers and all available information for the fraudulent charges, but CAPITAL ONE refused to provide any information whatsoever and cited privacy concerns as the reason.
100. When plaintiff submitted her identity theft complaint to the Kingman, AZ, Sheriff Department, Deputy Allen refused to investigate plaintiff’s report as they had nothing to investigate without detailed information about the fraudulent charges.  He requested that plaintiff fax information about the companies who submitted the fraudulent charges.
101. CAPITAL ONE maliciously protected the privacy of the criminal who stole plaintiff’s identity and credit card and possibly other information.
RETAILERS NATIONAL BANK
102. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
103. Despite plaintiff’s disputes with the CRAs, RNB failed to report the credit limit for plaintiff’s Target store charge card.

104. On February 27, 2004, plaintiff called RNB after she had noticed on her credit report that RNB had lowered the credit limit for her Mervyns account. RNB informed plaintiff that the limit was lowered due to nonuse.   Plaintiff requested that the limit be increased again, RNB obtained plaintiff’s Experian credit report, causing a “hard” FICO score lowering credit inquiry and denied the credit limit increase.

105. RNB failed to provide the adverse action letter.

AMERIQUEST MORTGAGE COMPANY
106. Plaintiff repeats, realleges and incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs.
107. On April 20, 2004, AMERIQUEST contacted plaintiff after she had submitted an online mortgage application in response to electronic bulk email (“spam”).
108. Upon information and belief, the FCC cited AMERIQUEST on 6/18/02 for the transmission of unsolicited advertisements.
109. Upon information and belief, AMERIQUEST knew or should have known that the leads purchased from Defendant PANDA MANAGEMENT were procured through unlawful unsolicited advertisements and AMERIQUEST is a “sender” as defined by the Arizona Commercial Electronic Mail Statue and a “person” as defined by the Arizona Consumer Fraud Act.
110. Plaintiff explained to AMERIQUEST loan officer Beatrice during the 4/20/04 telephone call that she was looking for prequalification to purchase investment property and that she was self-employed.  Plaintiff also specifically explained that EQUIFAX and Trans Union were blocking her from obtaining her FICO scores and Beatrice promised to mail the credit reports with the FICO scores to plaintiff within a couple of days.
111. Plaintiff then provided Beatrice with her social security number and other identifying information so that she could order the credit reports.

112. On April 28, 2004, plaintiff received a call from Jonathan with Great Southwest Mortgage, stating that his friend Beatrice provided him with plaintiff’s information and that he was offering a free consultation regarding plaintiff’s purchase of a home.

113. AMERIQUEST provided plaintiff’s personal contact and financial information to Jonathan with Great Southwest Mortgage in violation of the GLBA.
114. On May 4, 2004, plaintiff sent an e-mail to Beatrice, inquiring about this strange call and why she received some disclosures, but no credit reports.
115. On May 7, 2004, Beatrice returned plaintiff’s call and she left a long VM explaining that she had not been at work due to her father’s heart attack and that she could not “put together the best purchase program” and therefore provided plaintiff’s phone number to Jonathan.
116. Upon information and belief, AMERIQUEST denied plaintiff’s mortgage application no later than 5/7/04, as per Beatrice’s voice message, although the actual date of decline was apparently no later than 4/28/04, when plaintiff’s application data had already been provided to Great Southwest Mortgage.
117. Upon information and belief, the 4/21/04 credit reports were the only new information AMERIQUEST had received since plaintiff’s 4/20/04 telephone application and plaintiff’s credit caused Beatrice to decline the application.

118. AMERIQUEST failed to provide plaintiff with the true reason for the decline within 30 days from the decline as required by the ECOA and FCRA.
119. On May 8, 2004, plaintiff wrote to Beatrice:

Hi Beatrice,

I received your 5/7/04 voice mail and I'm sorry your Dad had a heart attack, I hope he is well now.

I am concerned because you said that you would reply to the e-mail below, but I haven't received anything from you.

Where are my credit reports with the FICO scores?  What are the problems with my loan?

I'll greatly appreciate a response,

Christine
120. On May 12, 2004, AMERIQUEST sent a “Notification of Incompleteness” to plaintiff.  It advised that the loan application was on hold pending the receipt of the following items: “Current Paystubs, Borrower W-2, Proof of Hazard/Flood Insurance.”
121. Plaintiff had informed Beatrice prior to applying that she was self-employed and looking for prequalification and it is impossible to provide hazard/flood insurance prior to having a purchase agreement for the subject property.
122. Plaintiff’s  September 10, 2004 press release “Consumer Sues Ameriquest Mortgage Company for Spamming, False Promises, Misrepresentation and Incompetence” was republished at many financial websites and accessed over 52,000 times at http://www.emediawire.com/releases/2004/9/prweb156653.htm. [Exhibit E]
123. Despite plaintiff’s notice to AMERIQUEST attorney Jeffrey Messing and PR representative Joan Gladstone prior to the release, plaintiff has not received any comments or objections from AMERIQUEST or its representatives.

124. Plaintiff therefore concluded that all her allegations are true.
125. To date, plaintiff has not received any communications from Beatrice, she has not received the promised credit reports nor has AMERIQUEST explained what caused its inability to “put together the best purchase program.”
126. Plaintiff alleges that AMERIQUEST attempted to cover up its false promises, misrepresentations, extraordinary incompetence and gross negligence by submitting entirely false and misleading statements to the Court.
127. AMERIQUEST violated AZ Consumer Fraud and Mortgage Brokers Statutes repeatedly and deliberately, as it enticed plaintiff to apply with false promises of credit reports, competent consultation and availability of loan programs for self-employed persons.
PANDA MANAGEMENT AND ANTHONY FERLANTI
128. According to the MaximumCash website, it offers affiliate programs to advertise pornographic websites and it listed ANTHONY FERLANTI on its “Spammer Report”at http://maximumcash.com/spam.cgi as ex-affiliate, terminated on 12/10/01 for violating its anti-spam policy.  
129. Upon information and belief, PANDA MANAGEMENT and ANTHONY FERLANTI spammed plaintiff with at least one unsolicited bulk e-mail mortgage advertisement containing false or misleading information and falsified electronic transmission information in violation of A.R.S. §44-1522 and A.R.S. § 44-1372.
SUMMARY

130. This Complaint does not contain all of plaintiff’s disputes and communications regarding the above referenced accounts and Defendants.  Plaintiff has wasted literally thousands of hours on these never ending disputes with CRAs and creditors and complaints with the regulators such as the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond and the FTC.  Supposedly the regulators have a mandate to enforce consumer protection legislation, yet they refuse to do so even after plaintiff sued for enforcement.
131. Despite plaintiff’s many complaints with regulators and her 3/19/03 lawsuit, Defendants EQUIFAX and CAPITAL ONE continue to report inaccurate and incomplete data on plaintiff’s credit reports.
CAUSES OF ACTION

FCRA, ECOA, GLBA, Defamation, Misrepresentation, Gross Negligence, Negligent and Willful Enablement of Identity Theft, Mortgage Brokers, Commercial Electronic Mail and Consumer Fraud Statutes
132. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of the information contained in consumer reports in violation of FCRA § 1681e(b).

133. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide complete consumer disclosures on numerous occasions in violation of FCRA § 1681g(a)1 and A.R.S. § 44-1522.
134. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently sold credit data to resellers engaging in illegal practices such as the sales of incomplete consumer disclosures and charging more than the maximum allowable $9.00 in violation of FCRA § 1681g(a)1 and §1681j and A.R.S. § 44-1522.
135. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide to plaintiff a summary of all rights in violation of FCRA § 1681g(c).
136. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide trained personnel in violation of FCRA § 1681h(c).
137. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to consider plaintiff’s information in violation of § 1681i(a)4.
138. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide written notice by fax or e-mail as requested by plaintiff on numerous occasions and failed to provide the required notices in violation of FCRA § 1681i(a)6, subjecting plaintiff to the possibility of identity theft.

139. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently failed to provide the descriptions of reinvestigation procedures in violation of FCRA § 1681i(a)7.
140. EQUIFAX willfully and negligently misrepresented its CreditWatch identity theft program in violation of A.R.S. § 44-1522.
141. CAPITAL ONE BANK, CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. and/or CAPITAL ONE SERVICES willfully and negligently failed to conduct reasonable investigations of plaintiff’s disputes in violation of FCRA § 1681s-2(b). 

142. CAPITAL ONE BANK, CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. and/or CAPITAL ONE SERVICES intentionally and with malice refused to report the credit limits, inflicting damages on plaintiff and millions of their customers, in violation of FCRA § 1681s-2(b).
143. CAPITAL ONE engaged in false advertising, misrepresenting that its credit card checks could be used like any check and deposited by plaintiff in her checking account in violation of A.R.S. § 44-1522.
144. CAPITAL ONE intentionally and with malice refused to provide information about the fraudulent charges to her credit card, subjecting plaintiff to future identity theft.
145. CAPITAL ONE, F.S.B. denied all recurring charges despite its promise to transfer those charges to the new account.  Plaintiff spent considerable time and suffered humiliation and embarrassment having to explaining to her vendors her predicament and she was very distressed because services vital to her business could have been shut off without notice.
146. RNB willfully and negligently failed to conduct reasonable investigations of plaintiff’s disputes in violation of FCRA § 1681s-2(b). 

147. RNB failed to provide the adverse action letter in violation of FCRA § 1681m and ECOA § 1691(d).
148. AMERIQUEST demonstrated gross negligence and incompetence and misrepresented its ability to assist plaintiff in violation of A.R.S. § 44-1522 and A.R.S. § 6-947.
149. AMERIQUEST or its agents are liable for the transmission of at least one false and deceptive bulk email advertisement to plaintiff in violation of A.R.S. § 44-1522 and A.R.S. § 44-1372.  
150. AMERIQUEST failed to provide the adverse action letter in violation of FCRA § 1681m and ECOA  § 1691(d). 
151. PANDA MANAGEMENT and ANTHONY FERLANTI spammed plaintiff with at least one false and deceptive bulk email advertisement in violation of A.R.S. § 44-1522 and A.R.S. § 44-1372.

PLAINTIFF’S DAMAGES

152. Plaintiff intended to purchase real estate since 2001 and her damages have been compounded by the Defendants’ deliberate and continued unlawful conduct even after plaintiff took legal action.  Despite the fact that plaintiff does not have a single late payment on her credit, AMERIQUEST declined her mortgage application for any amount, even though she was going to pay off all debt and put 20% or more cash down.  Until plaintiff has the real reason for the decline, every subsequent mortgage application is likely to result in more declines and credit score lowering inquiries, in addition to the prospect of more false promises, misrepresentations, deceptions and incompetence.
153. Plaintiff has applied for and has been denied various loans and extensions of consumer credit on many different occasions. Plaintiff has been informed that the basis for these denials was the inaccurate and incomplete information that appeared on plaintiff’s credit reports or due to artificially low credit scores based on those incorrect and incomplete credit reports and credit score lowering credit inquiries.
154. Plaintiff’s credit reports and credit scores have been reviewed many times by prospective and existing credit grantors and extenders of credit, and the inaccurate and incomplete information and the credit score lowering inquiries have been a substantial factor in precluding plaintiff from receiving many different credit offers and opportunities, known and unknown, and from receiving the most favorable terms in financing and interest rates for credit offers that were ultimately made.

155. As a result of Defendants’ conduct, plaintiff has suffered actual damages and serious financial and pecuniary harm arising from monetary losses relating to credit denials, loss of use of funds, loss of credit and loan opportunities, excessive and/or elevated interest rate and finance charges, out-of-pocket expenses including, but not limited to, credit reports, credit monitoring services, local or long distance telephone calls, postage, faxing and other related costs, all of which will continue into the future to plaintiff’s great detriment and loss.

156. As a result of Defendants’ conduct, plaintiff has suffered great physical, emotional and mental pain and anguish, and plaintiff will continue to suffer the same for an indefinite time in the future, all to plaintiff’s great detriment and loss.

157. As a result of Defendants’ conduct, plaintiff has suffered actual damages in the form of financial and dignitary harm arising from the injury to credit rating and reputation, and plaintiff will continue to suffer the same for an indefinite time in the future, all to plaintiff’s great detriment and loss.
158. Plaintiff is entitled to damages pursuant to FCRA §§ 1681n and 1681o, ECOA, GLBA and Arizona Consumer Fraud, Commercial Electronic Email and Mortgage Broker Statues.
JURY TRIAL DEMAND

159. Plaintiff demands trial by jury on all issues so triable.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

160. Plaintiff seeks judgment in plaintiff’s favor and damages against the Defendants, based on the following requested relief:

a) Actual damages;

b) Statutory damages;

c) Punitive damages;

d) Costs and reasonable attorney's fees;
e) An order directing that CAPITAL ONE immediately

1) report the credit limits for revolving accounts to any and all persons and entities to whom they report consumer credit information;

2) include a warning with the mailings of credit card checks, disclosing in large print that banks and merchants may refuse to accept the checks;

3) provide to plaintiff all information available relating to the 2004 fraudulent charges due to identity theft.
f) An order directing that EQUIFAX immediately:

A. provide plaintiff with unlimited access to online credit reports and Fair Isaac credit scores;

B. accept and act on all communications from plaintiff’s authorized representative;

C. cease mailing consumer disclosures via unsecure postal service and instead utilize fax and internet communications;

D. accept calls without requiring the purchase of a credit report;

E. implement reasonable procedures to prevent the inaccurate and incomplete reporting of accounts and accidental deletion of inquiries and tradelines;

F. implement computerized error checking to eliminate obvious incorrect reporting such as a “current balance” higher than the “most owed,” empty fields for the “credit limits” of revolving accounts, missing dates for late payments or any other derogatory notations, etc.;

G. report all tradelines indefinitely;
H. lock plaintiff’s primary address until notified by plaintiff of a new address to prevent identity theft;

I. provide complete consumer disclosures including the date and purpose of credit inquiries, including the “auto” or “mortgage” classification currently utilized by Fair Isaac scores for inquiry deduplication, the dates of all late payments, the dates of last activity, and ANY and ALL data utilized by any credit score;

J. cease withholding consumer disclosures in response to legal action;

K. implement user changeable PINs to prevent unauthorized access to consumer credit files and identity theft.
g) An order directing that RNB immediately report the correct credit limits for revolving accounts to any and all persons and entities to whom they report consumer credit information;

h) An order directing AMERIQUEST to provide plaintiff with the promised credit reports and the adverse action letter containing the true reason for the decline.

i) Such other and further relief as may be necessary, just and proper.
Respectfully submitted this 8th day of December, 2004.

	 
	

	
	Christine Baker
Plaintiff Pro Per
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